I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

Rose Linger, Larry Emery, and Richard Emery (the "Linger 

Beneficiaries") are the petitioners in this Court and were the respondents 

in the Court of Appeals. 

II. DECISION BELOW 

The published opinion of the Court of Appeals was originally filed 

on May 19, 2014. The Linger Beneficiaries filed a motion for 

reconsideration on June 9, 2014. That motion for reconsideration was 

denied, but the court made modifications to its earlier opinion and filed its 

final published opinion on August 4, 2014. Appendix, A-1 to A-41. 

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

A. Where the Court of Appeals ruled that the trustor 

substantially complied with the restrictions governing the amendment of 

his trust even though he intentionally attempted to subvert such 

restrictions, does that ruling conflict with prior case law applying the 

doctrine of substantial compliance only where equity demands it, to wit 

Williams v. Bank of California, N.A., 96 Wn.2d 860, 639 P.2d 1339 

(1982); Allen v. Abrahamson, 12 Wn. App. 103, 529 P.2d 469 (1974); and 

Mortimer v. Dirks, 57 Wash. 402, 107 P. 184 (1910)? 

B. Does the Court of Appeals ruling that the Trustees had the 
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right to appeal in this instance conflict with prior case law holding that 

where the dispute is between beneficiaries over who has a right to receive 

from an estate, and there is no impairment of the estate, the estate itself 

does not have a right to appeal, to wit In re Cannon's Estate, 59 Wash. 

130, 133, 109 P. 334 (1910), In re Tucker's Estate, 116 Wash. 475,476, 

199 P. 765 ( 1921 ); and In re Maher's Estate, 195 Wash. 126, 79 P .2d 984 

(1938)? 

C. Does the Court of Appeals ruling restricting the definition 

of an "interested party" who is entitled to statutory notice under TEDRA 

raise an issue of substantial public interest to all trust beneficiaries that 

should be reviewed by the Supreme Court? 

D. Is the ruling ofthe Court of Appeals which declines to 

accept the language of incorporation contained in Tom's trust requiring 

court intervention in the amendment of the Trust an issue of significant 

public interest where such a affects the ability of individuals to craft a less 

restrictive alternative to guardianship while maintaining protective 

oversight of the courts? 

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

J. Thomas Bernard ("Tom") 1 was a self-made man with substantial 

1 J. Thomas Bernard shall be referred to as "Tom" and James Bernard will 
be referred to as James consistent with the Court of Appeals' decision. 
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real estate holdings. Unfortunately, Tom began to experience declining 

mental capacity in his early 60s, which was about the mid-2000s. (CP 

986.) 

After several years of declining mental capacity, Tom's son James 

Bernard ("James") filed for guardianship ofhis father on April10, 2008. 

(In re Guardianship of Bernard, King County Cause No. 08-4-02728-4 

SEA.) (CP 169-177.) The Petition listed only James and Rose Linger as 

the persons most closely related by blood or marriage.2 A medical report 

by Dr. R. Renee Eisenhauer opined he had frontal lobe dementia, an early 

form of dementia. (CP 189.) Michelle Farris, the court appointed 

guardian ad litem for the guardianship proceeding, noted in her report that 

Tom's personal doctor, Dr. Moe Hagman, had raised the possibility of 

frontal lobe dementia in April 2008 during an examination for pneumonia 

at the University of Washington Medical Center. (CP 194.) Ms. Farris 

recommended "that a Professional Guardian be appointed to serve as 

Guardian of the Person and Estate" for the rest of Tom's life. (CP 199.) 

2 Pursuant to RCW 11.88.030 (1 )(f) a petition for guardianship must list 
the names and addresses of the persons most closely related by blood or 
marriage to the alleged incapacitated person. In 201 0 when a second 
petition for guardianship was filed under King County Cause No. 10-4-
05897-1 SEA, Rose was again listed as a person most closely related by 
blood or marriage to Tom. Rick Emery and Larry Emery were also listed. 
By that time Jamie had passed away. 
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On March 25,2009, Tom and James entered into a TEDRA 

agreement ("March TEDRA"). The March TEDRA recited: 

The Parties further acknowledge and agree that Tom enters 
into this Agreement as a compromise to certain disputes 
that have arisen between Tom and James regarding the 
current management and future disposition of Tom's assets. 
James has indicated that if at any point in the future Tom 
loses testamentary capacity, absent this Agreement, he may 
petition the court for a guardianship of Tom's estate. The 
Parties agree that it is in the best interests of both Parties 
to avoid a guardianship of Tom's estate. Accordingly, 
the Parties agree that establishing the Trust and agreeing to 
the terms of this Agreement is a mutually acceptable less 
restrictive alternative to guardianship of the estate and 
James will forgo filing for a guardianship of Tom's estate 
so long as this Trust is in force and functional. 

(CP 203.) (Emphasis added.) 

Tom had very specific language that expressly limited his own right 

to modify, revoke or amend his estate planning documents written into the 

March TEDRA. The restrictive language and procedures set forth in the 

March TEDRA stated: 

b. Power to Revoke. Pursuant to Article 3 of the Trust, 
Tom has reserved the right (a) to revoke the Trust in its 
entirety, (b) to partially revoke or modify the Trust, and (c) 
to withdraw from the operation of the Trust any part or all 
of the Trust estate. Moreover, under Washington State law, 
Tom reserves the right at any time to amend or revoke the 
Will. Collectively, the rights described in the immediately 
two proceeding sentences shall be referred to as Tom's 
"Modification Powers." The Modification Powers are 
personal to Tom and may not be exercised by his attorneys
in-fact appointed under a duly executed durable power of 
attorney or by any guardian of his estate absent court order. 
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However, although both the Trust and the Will remain 
revocable and/or modifiable by Tom during his lifetime, 
the Parties agree that no exercise ofT om's Modification 
Powers over either or both of the Trust and/or the Will shall 
be effective unless and until: 

i. Tom files a petition for a hearing under RCW 
11.96A in King County Superior court which clearly 
and specifically sets forth a particular proposal for an 
exercise of the Modification Powers. 

ii. timely provides James with a summons for such 
hearing pursuant to RCW 11. 96A.1 00 (and otherwise 
complies with the substantive and procedural provisions 
ofRCW 11.96A) and 

iii. as a result of such a hearing, the court issues an 
order approving the exercise of some or all of the 
particular Modification Power(s) expressly requested in 
Tom's petition. 

Accordingly, the Parties expressly acknowledge and agree 
that any exercise by Tom of his Modification Powers over 
the Trust and/or the Will without first obtaining such a 
court order (and otherwise complying with the terms of this 
Agreement) shall be null and void. 

(CP 203- 204.) 

A memorandum of agreement, was filed with the court on June 10, 

2009, under King County Cause No. 09-4-03011-9. On the same day that he 

signed the March TEDRA Agreement, Tom also executed the J. Thomas 

Bernard Revocable Trust Agreement ("Trust") and a pour-over will. (CP 

203.) 

The Trust contained the following paragraph regarding Tom's 

Modification Powers: 
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Rights Personal to Trustor Subject to Binding Non
Judicial Agreement. . . . Notwithstanding any other 
provision of this Agreement, such rights are subject to that 
certain Non-Judicial Agreement regarding the J. Thomas 
Bernard Revocable Living Trust Agreement ("TEDRA") of 
even date herewith and are not exercisable by Trustor 
unless and until Trustor obtains the court order required by 
such agreement and otherwise satisfies all of the 
requirements imposed by the TEDRA. If and to the extent 
such TEDRA is determined to be unenforceable for any 
reason, the restrictions on Trustor's right to revoke, modify, 
and/or withdraw property from this Trust as stated therein 
shall be incorporated in this Agreement by reference and 
shall remain fully enforceable against the Trustor. 

(CP 208 (bold in original).) 

Five months later in August 2009, Tom wrongfully executed a 

second TEDRA Agreement, which was subsequently executed by James in 

September 2009 ("August TEDRA Agreement"). (CP 235- 237.) 

Concurrent with Tom's signing of the August TEDRA Agreement, he 

executed a Trust Amendment and Codicil to his will. (CP 235.) The Trust 

Amendment altered the designation of one class of contingent remainder 

beneficiaries, but did not change the trustees or revoke the trust. Where 

previously Tom had directed that in the event James predeceased him 60 

percent of the Trust should be distributed to his niece Rose, and his two 

nephews Rick and Larry in equal shares (CP 215-216.); the Trust 

Amendment reduced their shares to $20,000 each, and added three business 

associates of Tom (Leah Karp, Dan Reina, and Diane Viars, referred by the 
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Court of Appeals as the "Karp Beneficiaries") as residual beneficiaries 

splitting 55 percent of the Trust. (CP 239-241.) 

The procedure purporting to exercise the modification powers was 

flawed because: I) no Petition was ever filed to seek approval ofthe August 

TEDRA Agreement; 2) no notice was sent to any party regarding the 

creation of the August TEDRA Agreement; 3) no court hearing was held 

regarding approval of the August TEDRA Agreement; and 4) no court order 

was issued approving the August TEDRA Agreement. 

On September 8, 2010, less than a year after the August Amendment, 

Tom was admitted to NW Hospital Geropsychiatric Center shortly following 

Tom's physical attack on his friend and his friend's companion. Tom's son, 

James, had committed suicide on September 11,2010, but Tom was never 

informed of this fact because of Tom's admission to a hospital for 

psychiatric reasons. (CP 998.) 

On January 13,2011, at the age of67, Tom passed away. 

On February 28, 2011, the probate ofTom's estate was opened in 

King County Superior Court. In that proceeding, the Linger Beneficiaries 

filed a motion for summary judgment that was granted on reconsideration. 

The Karp Beneficiaries, the Co-Trustees ofthe Trust and the Personal 

Representative of the Estate filed notices of appeal. 
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A different trial judge held that the Co-Trustees and the Personal 

Representative did not have the right to appeal in this instance. Notices of 

appeal were also filed with respect to this ruling. 

On appeal the Court of Appeals reversed the trial court's grant of 

summary judgment and held that the Co-Trustees and Personal 

Representative did have the right to appeal. 

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED 

A. The Doctrine of Substantial Compliance is an Equitable 
Remedy that Cannot be Applied in this Case Because Tom 
Intentionally Subverted the Express Provisions of the Trust. 

Substantial Compliance is an equitable doctrine intended to relieve 

parties of the potentially unjust results that may occur when strict 

compliance with the terms of a contract has been attempted, but not 

achieved. See Williams 96 Wn.2d 860; see also Allen, 12 Wn. App. 103; 

and see also Mortimer, 57 Wash. 402. Substantial compliance does not 

relieve parties of the duty to at least make an attempt to comply with the 

express terms of an agreement. !d. 

Here, Tom intentionally subverted the terms of the March TEDRA 

which states as follows: 

[T]he Parties agree that establishing the Trust and agreeing 
to the terms of this Agreement is a mutually acceptable less 
restrictive alternative to a guardianship of the estate and 
James will forego filing for a guardianship of Tom's estate 
so long as this Trust is in force and functional. 
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(CP 203.) 

Tom and James settled a guardianship dispute and used a trust as 

the means to do so which allowed them to utilize the TEDRA procedures 

to make their agreement equivalent to a court order. That court order 

required Tom to comply with the Modification Restrictions. To 

paraphrase, the requirements were 1) to note a TEDRA hearing; 2) to 

provide notice to James, and comply with TEDRA (which includes notice 

to affected parties such as Linger Beneficiaries- see below); and 3) to 

have the court approve the changes after the hearing 

The Court of Appeals found that Tom had substantially complied 

with the above procedures because the August TEDRA was equivalent to 

a court order and was agreed to by Tom and James. However, it is 

undisputed that Tom made no attempt to file a petition, serve notice, 

attend a court hearing, or obtain an order as a result of such hearing. 

The Court of Appeals relied on the case of Williams, 96 Wn.2d 

860, to support its position that Tom substantially complied with the 

March TEDRA. But the Court of Appeals misapplied the equitable 

principal of substantial compliance as it was described in Williams, as well 

as the other Washington State cases concerning substantial compliance 

cited herein and in the Court of Appeals decision. In each of those cases 

the courts applied the equitable theory of substantial compliance only 
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where actual compliance was attempted, but failed due to mistake or 

inadvertence. 

In Williams, the modification of the trust in question was merely to 

facilitate a transfer of retirement plan assets from one company that was 

being purchased and incorporated into another company. It was equitable 

to apply the doctrine of substantial compliance where, in the midst of a 

much larger transaction, the parties to the transaction made a small and 

unintentional technical mistake in implementing a modification of the 

trust. See Williams, 96 Wn.2d 860. The Court held that the mistake was 

merely an unintended result of a broader attempt to maintain the 

continuity and the existence of the retirement plan through the corporate 

acquisition. !d. at 867. Had the equitable doctrine of substantial 

compliance not been applied, it would have resulted in a disruption to the 

pension plan for the benefit of numerous individuals who had nothing to 

do with the unintended divergence from the express modification 

procedure. 

Williams is thus distinguishable from our present case where Tom 

had every opportunity to follow the modification procedure, but made the 

conscious decision not to comply simply because it would have been 

inconvenient for him to do so. In reference to Tom's intent to subvert the 

modification restrictions, the August Agreement first acknowledges the 
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existence of the restrictions, then goes on to state, "Accordingly, the 

Parties agree that this Amended Agreement is a more efficient method of 

enabling Tom to exercise such powers." August Agreement, pg 3, ln. 15-

17 (CP 236). The cases of Allen and Mortimer are even more instructive 

than Williams because they are more factually similar to our case and 

because they more clearly describe the equitable foundations upon which 

the doctrine of substantial compliance is based. 

In the 1974 case of Allen, the Division II Court of Appeals refused 

to extend the equitable doctrine of substantial compliance to a life 

insurance beneficiary's attempt to modify his beneficiary designations on 

his insurance policy. The Court recognized that the beneficiary intended 

to make the modification, but "never even attempted to comply with the 

policy requirements of written notification of a change of beneficiary." 

Allen, 12 Wn. App at 108. The Court found this failure to be fatal, citing 

the following explanation of the equitable underpinnings ofthe doctrine: 

Equity requires diligence. Therefore, where the insured 
failed to do all which might reasonably have been 
possible to effectuate his wishes, as to change a named 
beneficiary, aid will be denied. 

Allen, 12 Wn. App at 106. (emphasis added). 

In the present case there is no dispute that Tom failed to do "all 

which might reasonably have been possible" to affect the beneficiary 
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modification in his trust. There was nothing preventing him from filing a 

petition and obtaining a court order. Mere inconvenience was the only 

obstacle which stood in his way of achieving full compliance with the 

modification terms contained in the March TEDRA. 

The scholarly opinion by the Supreme Court in Mortimer, one of 

the earliest Washington State cases to address the equitable doctrine of 

substantial compliance, provides a detailed analysis of the equitable theory 

which is the foundation for the doctrine of substantial compliance: 

But such a rule, being founded in equity, is for the benefit 
of those who do equity, and it cannot be invoked by those 
who willfully and intentionally violate and breach their 
contracts. 'The equitable doctrine of substantial 
performance is intended for the protection and relief of 
those who have faithfully and honestly endeavored to 
perform their contracts in all material and substantial 
particulars, so that their right to compensation may not be 
forfeited by reason of mere technical, inadvertent, and 
unimportant omissions or defects. It is incumbent upon 
him who invokes its protection to present a case in 
which there has been no willful omission or departure 
from the terms of his contract. 

Mortimer, 57 Wash. at 405. (emphasis added; internal citations omitted) 

Tom willfully departed from the terms of his contract simply 

because it was more convenient to ignore the modification restrictions 

then to go through the modification process to which he had agreed. 

Tom's willful disregard of the modification provisions of the March 

TEDRA renders him ineligible to receive the protections of the equitable 
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doctrine of substantial compliance. 

B. The Decision Of The Court Of Appeals Conflicts With Prior 
Case Law By Allowing A Trustee To Take An Adversarial 
Position Against Certain Trust Beneficiaries on Behalf of 
Alternate Beneficiaries. 

The decision of the trial court invalidated a trust amendment that 

changed the beneficiaries of the Trust, but did not invalidate the trust 

itself, or change the trustees. The trial court then ruled that the Trustee's 

were barred from contesting the decision because it would place them in 

an adversarial relationship with their Cestui Que. The Court of Appeals 

overruled the trial court decision and held that the Trustees had a right to 

appeal the trial court's grant of summary judgment for the Linger 

Beneficiaries. 

This Court, in In re Tucker's Estate, 116 Wash. 475,477-78, 199 

P. 765 ( 1921) ruled that only an aggrieved party has a right to appeal. 

Here, the trustees are not an "aggrieved party" as their role in 

administering the trust was wholly unaffected by the determination of the 

trial court. The trustees had a duty to administer the trust for the benefit of 

the Cestui Que, and it would be antithetical to the trustee's duty of loyalty 

to allow them to use the trust corpus to take an active role in litigating who 

the Cestui Que should be. In short, a trustee administers the assets of the 

trust, a trustee does not decide who the beneficiaries of that trust should 
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be. 

It is an undisputed axiom of trust law that a trustee owes a duty to 

the beneficiaries to administer the trust solely for the interest of such 

beneficiaries. RCW 11.98.078 (1) states "A trustee must administer the 

trust solely in the interests of the beneficiaries." (Bold added). 

Accordingly, a trustee is required to have "undivided loyalty." Matter of 

Drinkwater's Estate, 22 Wn. App. 26, 30, 587 P.2d 606 (1978). A trustee 

owes the highest degree of good faith, diligence, and undivided loyalty to 

the beneficiaries. In re Estate of Ehlers, 80 Wn. App. 751,757,911 P.2d 

1017 (1996). 

It is not possible for a trustee to administer the trust solely in the 

interest of the beneficiaries if the trustee is using trust assets to pursue an 

appeal against those very beneficiaries. The invalidation of the Trust 

Amendment did not affect the operation of the Trust, it merely changed 

who the beneficiaries were. Thus, the action is merely a determination of 

who the beneficiaries are. 

A line of cases regarding the executor's right to appeal in a probate 

case directly conflicts with the decision of the court of appeals in this case. 

These cases have held that where the dispute is about who has a right to 

receive, and there is no impairment of the estate, the estate itself does not 

have a right to appeal. See In re Cannon's Estate, 18 Wash. 101 (1897); 
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Cairns v. Donahey, 59 Wash. 130, 133 (1910); In re Tucker's Estate, 116 

Wash. 475, 476 (1921 ); and In re Maher's Estate, 195 Wash. 126 (1938). 

The reasoning behind the line of cases is well described in In re Cannon 's 

Estate:

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