RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Oct 03, 2014, 9:49 am BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK

Supreme Court No. 90696-3 Court of Appeals Division One No. 69608-4-I (Consolidated with No. 69702-1-I) RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In the Matter of the Estate of

J. THOMAS BERNARD,

Deceased.

APPELLANTS' ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

KUTSCHER HEREFORD BERTRAM BURKART Karen R. Bertram, Bar #22051 705 Second Avenue Hoge Building, Suite 800 Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 382-4414 Attorneys for Personal Representative

II. REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

Review should be denied. The decision of the Court of Appeals represents the application of settled law to the specific testamentary documents and related TEDRA agreements at issue in this case. The decision breaks no new ground, does not create any conflict with any other decision, and does not raise any issue of substantial public interest. There is no question whatsoever as to what Tom and James intended to accomplish by way of the August TEDRA, and no reasonable argument that they owed any duty to others when they chose to amend their agreement. Moreover, Petitioners seek a ruling that will undermine the public interest in reducing court congestion served by RCW 11.96A.220, which authorizes parties who are interested in a trust or a related proceeding to enter into non-judicial binding agreements exactly of the sort Tom and James entered into here. They further ask the court to

undermine the public interest now codified in RCW 11.103.040 which provides that potential future beneficiaries under a revocable trust agreement have no enforceable rights during the lifetime of the trustor.

A. Tom Substantially Complied, and in Fact Strictly Complied, With the Method of Modification Required by the Trust.

The Court of Appeals correctly ruled that Tom at least substantially complied with the modification requirements of his Trust and that the Trust Amendment was therefore valid and effective. Op. at 27. Washington law has long recognized that substantial compliance with the modification methods set forth in a trust is effective to validate a trust amendment. See Williams v. Bank of Cal., 96 Wn.2d 860, 867-68, 639 P.2d 1339 (1982). The Court of Appeals did not err in applying this established doctrine to the facts here, where Tom and James (the sole other party to the March TEDRA) signed a new TEDRA agreement and filed a memorandum of that agreement with the court, giving it the effect of a court order under the TEDRA statute.

¹ The Court of Appeals cited *In re Estate of Button*, 79 Wn.2d 849, 852, 490 P. .2d 731 (1971), for the proposition that Tom substantially complied with the common law requirement that a trustor of a revocable trust must use the method of amendment specified in the trust to unilaterally modify it. Petitioners' assertion that *Button* supports them is wrong, as the Court of Appeals recognized. Indeed, *Button* would have been decided differently, even under pre-TEDRA law, if that trustor and his trustees had jointly amended that revocable trust in writing, like Tom and his trustees did. That result is even more certain under the subsequently enacted RCW 11.96A.220, which supersedes any possible application of *Button* to the Trust Amendment by expressly authorizing the modification of Tom's Trust by the written agreement of all of the then-interested parties (Tom, his trustees and by virtue of the March TEDRA only, James).

Petitioners allege that the doctrine of substantial compliance should not apply because the August TEDRA was "wrongful" and Tom "intentionally subverted" the March TEDRA. They further mischaracterize the August TEDRA as a failed attempt by Tom unilaterally to comply with an otherwise applicable contractual obligation. These assertions, never argued below and first made in the Petition, are pure fiction with no basis at all in the record. As the Court of Appeals recognized, this is a case where two adults, conclusively presumed on this appeal to have had full capacity, entered into a TEDRA agreement and later amended their agreement. Parties to a contract cannot "subvert" their own contract by later amending it; nor can a testator "subvert" his own estate plan by later making changes to it. Petitioners' suggestion to the contrary has no basis in the law or in common sense. And their repeated assertions that Tom departed from the terms of the March TEDRA "simply because it was more convenient" in fact demonstrate the very public policy rationale for the TEDRA statute, which is to make the resolution of matters more efficient through the use of non-judicial binding agreements.²

Moreover, consideration of the common law doctrine of substantial compliance presumes that "Tom and James were not trying to change the

² See RCW 11.96A.010.

[Modification Restrictions] but *instead*, were trying to comply with them." Op. at 21 (emphasis added). Because the Court of Appeals held that there was substantial compliance, it did not need to reach the issue of whether Tom strictly complied with the Modification Restrictions. Op. at 35.

In fact, Tom did not merely substantially comply, but rather strictly complied. In that regard, Tom and James did not attempt to amend the Modification Requirements, but instead changed them by agreeing in the August TEDRA that they would not apply at all to the Trust Amendment. The Modification Restrictions were created by a TEDRA agreement, and they could be and were changed by a subsequent TEDRA agreement.

The Court of Appeals held that the August TEDRA satisfied the requirements of the relevant provisions of TEDRA.³ Op. at 35 ("the August TEDRA "complied with the relevant provisions of TEDRA."). Under RCW 11.96A.220, which provides that parties may non-judicially

³ Though satisfied by Tom and James, the common law substantial compliance doctrine upon which the Petitioners focus is in fact irrelevant since the Court of Appeals correctly held that the requirements of RCW 11.96A were satisfied. Under RCW 11.96A.220, Tom and James, as all the necessary parties to the August TEDRA, and Tom and his trustees, as all the necessary parties to the Trust Amendment authorized by the August TEDRA, can simply agree, per express statutory authority, that an otherwise applicable common law requirement will not apply. Thus, although the Court of Appeals was correct in ruling that the common law substantial compliance doctrine is satisfied, that specific ruling is dictum because the dispositive ruling was that the August TEDRA "complied with the relevant provisions of TEDRA." Manary v. Anderson, 176 Wn.2d 342, 346, 292 P.3d 96, (2013):"Here, whether Homer satisfied the common law is irrelevant because Manary's claim is based on the [Testamentary Disposition of Nonprobate Assets] Act").

agree to resolve "any" matter relating to a trust or proceeding, Tom and James were free to modify, add to, or remove the Modification Restrictions to which they had contractually agreed in the March TEDRA through the use of a further TEDRA agreement, and they chose to do so.

The August TEDRA provides:

5. Amendment. ... Tom desires, and James desires for Tom, to modify Article 8 in the form of the attached Exhibit A and his Will in the form of the attached Exhibit B. The Parties agree and acknowledge that because the Modification Restrictions are imposed solely by virtue of the Agreement between the Parties, the Parties agree and represent that they are the sole necessary parties and have the power to modify such restrictions by further agreement. ... The Parties agree that the [March TEDRA] Agreement is hereby amended to provide that notwithstanding any provision of the Agreement, Trust or Will, the Parties agree that the Trust and Will are hereby amended as of the effective dates of such documents in the manner provided in the attached Exhibits A and B, respectively. Following the execution of the First Amendment and the First Codicil, the Modification Restrictions shall remain in full force, subject to further unanimous amendment of the Parties."

(Emphasis added).

The language of the August TEDRA thus makes clear that Tom and James intended to amend the March TEDRA so as to exempt the Trust Amendment from the Modification Restrictions, and to apply the Modification Restrictions again only to future Trust modifications. Tom

therefore strictly complied with the Modification Restrictions as they are stated in the March TEDRA as amended by the August TEDRA.

Moreover, the relevant method of modification under *Button* is that method specified *in the trust itself*. The only modification requirement imposed by the Trust itself here was satisfied by the delivery by Tom of written notice to the trustees, proof of which is evidenced by the trustees' signatures that appear on the Trust Amendment.

Thus, Tom complied strictly with the requirements to modify the terms of the Trust. And, even if there were any doubt on that score, the doctrine of substantial compliance would apply even *ignoring* the application of RCW 11.96A, as the Court of Appeals held. In short, the Court of Appeals applied established Washington law and committed no error in ruling that the Trust Amendment is valid and effective.

B. The Court of Appeals Recognized that the Co-Trustees have a Duty to uphold the Trustor's Last Expressed Intent Equivalent to the Long Recognized Duty of a Personal Representative to Uphold a Testator's Last Expressed Intent

The Court of Appeals correctly held that the Co-Trustees and Personal Representative were entitled to appeal from the trial court's rulings because it is "a duty of the executor to take all legitimate steps to uphold the testamentary instrument. Likewise, a trustee may appeal an adverse ruling that goes to the validity of the trust itself." Op. at 36-37 &

n. 93, 94 (and cases cited therein). Tom's fiduciaries are duty-bound to uphold his last stated intent, which here appears in the August TEDRA, the First Codicil and the Trust Amendment. The Personal Representative and Co-Trustees are not siding with one class of beneficiaries over another, as argued by Petitioners, but rather are taking all legitimate steps to uphold Tom's last stated intent. Moreover, the Court of Appeals correctly noted, "a trustee who is a party to an action in a representative capacity need not have a personal interest in the controversy to have a right to appeal if it is his duty to appeal in order to protect the interests of those whom he represents." (emphasis added).

The Personal Representative and Co-Trustees represent Tom, not either class of beneficiaries, and, again, it is their duty to protect *his* last stated intent. The Court of Appeals correctly recognized that as fiduciaries the Trustees must defend Tom's interests, stating: "To deny the trustees an appeal under these circumstances would render them helpless to prevent invasions of the corpus *that might defeat the plan of the trustor* or even destroy the trust itself." Op. at 38 (quoting *In re Ferrall's Estate*, 33 Cal.2d 202, 200 P.2d 1 (1948)). Petitioners fully conceded that Tom wanted to, and indeed sought to, change his contingent remainder beneficiaries when he executed the First Amendment, the First Codicil, and the August TEDRA Petitioners dispute whether Tom's efforts were

successful, but do not question his intent. Tom's fiduciaries were obligated to seek to vindicate his intent.

Consistent with the Court of Appeals decision, Washington courts have repeatedly held that a personal representative has a duty to defend the terms of a will. See, e.g., Estate of Jolly, 3 Wn.2d 615, 623-25, 101 P.2d 995 (1940); Estate of Shaugnessy, 104 Wn.2d 89, 95-96, 702 P.2d 132 (1985); In re Klein's Estate, 28 Wn.2d 456, 475, 183 P.2d 518 (1947) (cited by Court of Appeals for the rule that "it is the duty of the executor to take all legitimate steps to uphold the testamentary instrument."); see also Estate of Reilly, 78 Wn.2d 623, 479 P.2d 1 (1970); In re Chapin's Estate, 19 Wn.2d 770, 782, 144 P.2d 738 (1944); In re Richardson's Estate, 96 Wash. 123, 165 P. 656 (1917); In re Estate of Moulton, 1 Wn. App. 993, 465 P.2d 419 (1970).

The Court of Appeals likewise correctly ruled that a trustee has a duty to defend the terms of a trust. Opinion at 39 ("Accordingly, the trustee had a similar duty [to the Personal Representative] -- to protect the plan of the trustor and protect the trust itself."); see also Restatement (Third) of the Law of Trusts § 79, Reporter's Notes to comment c and d (2012) (a trustee may appeal an order that attacks the validity of a trust). (quoting In re Ferrall's Estate, 33 Cal.2d 202, 200 P.2d 1 (1948)). In sum, the trial court did not decide between competing groups of

beneficiaries based on some interpretation of Tom's last testamentary documents. Instead, the trial court held that the First Amendment and First Codicil were invalid. Tom's fiduciaries had the right (indeed, the duty) to defend Tom's final testamentary documents.

C. The Court of Appeals has not "Redefined," but Simply Reaffirmed, Well-Established Washington Law, as well as Broadly Accepted Common Law, Regarding Standing, Interested Parties and Real Parties in Interest under TEDRA.

For the first time in their motion for reconsideration filed after the decision of the Court of Appeals, and again in the Petition, Petitioners contend that TEDRA was invoked in this case to "settle the guardianship issue," and that invocation entitled them to notice of any court proceeding to modify Tom's estate plan. CP 420-421 & CP 447-450. That contention, for which Petitioners cite no authority, is demonstrably false. No orders regarding Tom's estate planning were ever entered in a guardianship proceeding, and guardianship proceeding rules have no application here.

Rather, the March TEDRA addressed disputes and potential disputes solely between the signatories to that agreement—Tom and James. The March TEDRA recited no less than three⁴ times that the only

⁴ The March TEDRA provides on page 1: "collectively, Tom and James are referred to herein as the "Parties"; on page 2: "The Parties hereby agree that the subject matter of this Agreement is appropriate for a binding non-judicial agreement executed under RCW 11.96A.220 et seq and that all necessary parties have been made a party

parties to the agreement and the only intended beneficiaries of the agreement were Tom and James. Likewise, the August TEDRA reconfirmed that Tom and James considered themselves to be the sole parties to and intended beneficiaries of the March TEDRA. This is entirely consistent with the intended purpose of non-judicial binding agreements under TEDRA—they are contractual agreements between the parties.

As contracts, non-judicial binding agreements may be changed by the parties to the agreement:

It is well settled in Washington that 'a contract may be modified or abrogated by the parties thereto in any manner they choose, notwithstanding provisions therein prohibiting its modification or abrogation except in a particular manner.'

Pac. Nw. Group A. v. Pizza Blends, 90 Wn. App. 273, 278, 951 P.2d 826 (1998) (quoting Kelly Springfield Tire Co. v. Faulkner, 191 Wash. 549, 555, 71 P.2d 382 (1937)); see also Columbia Park Golf Course, Inv. v. City of Kennewick, 160 Wn. App. 66, 82, 248 P.3d 1067 (2011)). Nothing in TEDRA expands the necessary parties to an agreement. To the contrary, TEDRA is specific that necessary parties must also be individuals with standing.

<u>hereto</u>." Emphasis added.; and on page 5: "The undersigned Parties to this Agreement comprise <u>all necessary persons to a non-judicial agreement pursuant to, and in accordance with, Sections 11.96A.210 through 11.96A.250 of the Revised Code of Washington ("RCW") [emphasis added]").</u>

Standing to sue requires the potential party to possess sufficient stake in an otherwise justiciable controversy to obtain judicial resolution of that controversy, *i.e.*, a legally protected right.⁵ Consistent with standing, albeit a distinct legal theory, CR 17(a) requires that "every action shall be prosecuted in the name of the real party in interest"—the person who possesses the right sought to be enforced. *Sprague v. Sysco Corp.*, 97 Wn. App. 169, 982 P.2d 1202 (1999).

TEDRA attends to this fundamental aspect of standing and defines "[p]ersons interested in the estate or trust" as "all persons beneficially interested in the estate or trust" (emphasis added). Under Washington law, a "[b]eneficial interest has been defined as the profit, benefit, or advantage resulting from a contract, or the ownership of an estate as distinct from the legal ownership or control." Christiansen v. Dep't of Soc. Sec., 15 Wn.2d 465, 467, 131 P.2d 189 (1942).

In the absence of contractual rights to the contrary, contingent beneficiaries under a revocable living trust have no enforceable beneficial interest or rights in the trust during the lifetime of the trustor. Until death, an individual's estate plan is malleable; no contingent beneficiary has a

⁵ See Miller v. Campbell, 164 Wn.2d 529, 192 P.3d 352 (2008) (debtor has no standing to enforce a claim that belongs to his bankruptcy estate); Mack v. Armstrong, 147 Wn. App. 522, 195 P.3d 1027 (2008) (property owner was given standing to sue to enforce covenants in the plain language of the covenants).

current, beneficial interest in the assets, which may or may not exist upon the testator's death, and, consequently, the court lacks jurisdiction over an individual's estate plan. *See Pond v. Faust*, 90 Wash. 117, 120-121, 155 P. 776, 778 (1916) ("courts have no power to inquire into the validity of wills prior to the death of the maker, to determine the incompetency of the maker").

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